MAY 27 1999

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

EVELYN OWENS and JOHN J. OWENS, her husband, Petitioners,

CASE NO: 95567 By_____

5 DCA CASE NO: 98-00683

v.

PUBLIX SUPERMARKETS, INC., Respondent.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

B.C. Muszynski, Esquire Florida Bar No. 0057680 1005 W. Emmett Street Kissimmee, Florida 34741 (407) 847-2999 Attorney for Petitioners

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioners were the plaintiffs in a personal injury lawsuit in the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Osceola County, Florida and the appellants in the Fifth District Court of appeal, the respondent was the defendant in said personal injury lawsuit in the trial court of appeal. In the brief the petitioners will be referred to as "Owens", "plaintiffs" or "appellants". The respondent will be referred to as "Publix", "defendant" or "appellees".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 4, 1995, Evelyn Owens was a part time employee of Publix Super Markets, Inc.. Her full time employment was with the Osceola County School Board, Upon completion of her duties at Publix on that day, she "clocked out", however, before leaving, she decided to pick up a few things, that is, do some shopping before departing for home. In that she agreed to give a co-worker a ride home she was in the company of one Rosalina Toledo.

While they were proceeding down an aisle and looking at the merchandise on the shelves Evelyn Owens slipped and fell on what was later identified as a small part of a banana. An independent witness, Jean Ross, was in close proximity to Evelyn Owens at the time of the slip and fall. She testified it was a small piece of slightly discolored banana. By discovery requests, Publix admitted Mrs. Owens was an invitee at the time of her slip and fall. As a part time employee Evelyn Owens had no benefits other than her hourly pay rate.

Following the fall, Mrs. Owens was transported to the St. Cloud Hospital Emergency Room, where she was treated and released. She was physically unable to return to work, at Publix, as well as the School Board for several weeks. She was unable to work for Publix during the summer recess of the School Board as she had in prior years. She did not return to work for Publix.

On March 4, 1995, the date of the slip and fall, a "Notice of <a href="Injury" was prepared and filed by Publix with the Florida" Department of Labor and Employment Security, Division of Workers

Compensation. On March 21, 1995, "a Notice of Denial of Benefits" was sent to Evelyn Owens. Publix admitted by discovery Requests For Admissions that Workers Compensation Benefits were denied Evelyn Owens.

In response to the original complaint, Publix filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses on April 11, 1996, and requested Mediation. Plaintiff responded with a Motion for Relief from an Order of Referral to Mediation due to the conduct of the adjuster of Publix, prior to suit being filed. Publix is a self Insurer up to \$500,000.00 and adjusts claims with its own adjuster agents/employees.

The Original complaint was amended several times. On one occasion, to add John J. Owens, as a Plaintiff for his loss of consortium claim, to meet the requirements of FS 627.7403. Other amendments were made by reason of information obtained through discovery efforts during the course of the litigation. It was an arduous task to get information from Publix in that their attorneys objected to most of the pertinent discovery requests of Plaintiff, or made evasive responses. Motions to compel were necessary and resulted in orders requiring Publix to comply with many of Plaintiff's discovery requests.

Notwithstanding the admissions of Publixthat Evelyn Owens was an Invitee and that Workers Compensation Benefits had been denied. Publix filed a Motion for Summary Judgement, on September 11, 1996, contending that " there was no genuine issue of material fact in that Plaintiffs injuries occurred during the course and scope of

her employment." On hearing on November 18, 1996, the court denied the motion. and commented that said conduct might be Bad Faith.

On September 17, 1996, Plaintiff, Evelyn Owens, filed a Motion to amend the complaint to add her husband's derivative consortium claim and to add a count for "Bad Faith" predicated on the actions of Publix in denying Workers Compensation Benefits to Evelyn Owens and thereafter seeking a Summary Judgement upon Workers Compensation Immunity, The court allowed the amendment as to the consortium claim, however the amendment to allow a claim for "Bad Faith" was denied.

On May 22, 1997, the court allowed Evelyn Owens to again amend her complaint. It is this amended complaint that the cause proceeded to trial.

In the First Amended Complaint, Evelyn Owens, alleged in paragraphs 4 & 5 the two theories of liability of Publix for her injuries. Simply stated, the length of time the substance was on the floor as well as forseability and duty to warn.

Publix filed its answer and affirmative Defenses to the First Amended Complaint on June 5, 1997. Publix once again raised the defense of Workers Compensation Immunity notwithstanding the court had previously rejected that defense.

On August 6, 1997, pursuant to Order of Court Publix filed Supplemental Answers to Interrogatories, whereby answers regarding prior incidents were expanded upon, revealing that Publix had experienced one or more slip and falls per month at the St. Cloud Store.

On August 1, 1997, Evelyn Owens filed a Motion to Strike the affirmative Defense of Workers Compensation Immunity which Motion was Granted by the Court on September 16, 1997.

On August 12, 1997, the court entered an Order setting the action for jury trial during a trial period in January 1998. A Joint Pretrial Stipulation was filed on January 15, 1998. In that stipulation Publix refused to stipulate to the scope of employment of Evelyn Owens at the time of her injury.

The case came on for jury trial on Tuesday, January 21, 1998. On that morning Publix presented a Motion in Limine far the first time. Among other requests, Publix sought to exclude any evidence relating to the spurious Workers Compensation Defense; then existing Sexual Discrimination suits brought against Publix by employees and the fact that Evelyn Owens' lawyer was formerly a Circuit Court Judge. Publix also filed an objection to the Notice to Produce At Trial served January 13, 1998, and filed by Evelyn Owens on January 21, 1998. The Notice to Produce At Trial related to prior incidents in the subject store and the total number of In its objection, among the grounds slip and fall incidents. asserted by Publix was, that the Notice to Produce at trial was "unduly burdensome". Publix essentially was allowed to ignore the Notice to Produce at trial which by Rule has the force and effect of a Subpoena. At trial, a representative of Publix testified that such information was available at corporate headquarters and stored on computers.

A jury was selected and sworn. Evidence was presented on

January 21, 1998. On the second day of trial Evelyn Owens requested the court reconsider the Motion in Limine as to the sexual discrimination law suit against Publix for the reason that Evelyn Owens received a notice on January 21, 1998, that she was a member of the class and was entitled to an award from Publix. The request was Denied.

Before presenting testimony that morning, Evelyn Owens also requested the court allow a demonstration using a fresh Publix banana to demonstrate to the jury the length of time it would take to cause small pieces of peeled banana to discolor. The request was denied.

At the conclusion of Plaintiffs' case, the court granted a Motion for a directed Verdict in favor of Publix. Thereafter a Final Judgement was entered on February 10, 1998, in favor of Publix. The Motion of Publix to assess attorney fees was Denied by the court. The request of Publix to assess costs was Granted

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed by Evelyn Owens with the Fifth District Court of Appeals. That Court in its panel decision reversed the decision of the trial court.

In addition to a Motion for Rehearing and Clarification, and a Motion for Certification; Publix also filed a Motion for the extraordinary relief of a Rehearing En Banc pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.331(d) which included the required statement of counsel to wit:

" I express a belief based upon a reasoned and studied professional judgement that the panel decision is of an exceptional importance" (emphasis added).

A Re-Hearing En Banc was Granted by the Fifth District Court of Appeals on March 12, 1999. The other Motions of Publix were denied.

Owens timely filed her Motion for Rehearing which was Denied by Order filed April 22, 1999. Thereafter Owens timely filed her Notice to Invoke discretionary jurisdiction by this Honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This, Honorable Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with another court of appeal or the supreme court on a question of law. Article 5, Section 3 (b) (3). Florida The absence of authority to rehear en banc and a Constitution. discussion of the legal principles which the district court of appeal applied supplies sufficient basis for a petition for conflict review. Nielson v. City of Sarasota 117 So 2d 731 (Fla. 19601 Finney V. State, Fla. App., 420 So. 2d 639 and Ford Motor Company v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d. (Fla 1981). The conducting and the granting of a motion for rehearing en banc and the legal principles discussed by and in the opinion conflicts with (1) decisions that hold that for a district court to rehear a case en banc the district court must recognize a conflict which properly activates its authority to do so, rather than the desire of an attarney to

have the entire court rehear a case which has been decided contrary to his client's interests, and (2) decisions that hold that the appearance, quality and character of a foreign substance on the floor of a premises in sufficient evidence to allow a case to go to the jury for consideration to determine liability of the premises owner.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THIS COURT **HAS** DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE EN BANC DECISION RENDERED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT IN THE INSTANT CASE.

By reason of Article V Section 3 (b) (3), of the Florida Constitution this court has the discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of the district courts of appeals that expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or that of the supreme court on the same question of law, However, it is not necessary that a district court explicitly identify conflicting district court or supreme court decision in its opinion to create "express" conflict. A discussion of legal principles which a district court of appeal expounds supplies sufficient basis for conflict review. Ford Motor Company v. Kilis. 401 So.2d. 1341 (Fla. 1981).

Petitioner submits that the En **Banc** Rehearing decision of the Fifth District in this case not only conflicts with decisions of other district courts legal principles discussed but also conflicts with decisions of other districts and the supreme court regarding

the authority of a district court to rehear a case en banc.

In the reverse of the foregoing and in that a rehearing en **banc** is an extraordinary proceeding, petitioner initially presents what they consider is the authority of a district court to rehear a case en **banc**.

It is without question , and not arguable that the simple desire of an attorney to have the entire district court rehear a case which has been decided contrary to his client's interest cannot be the basis of such authority. Finny vs. State, 420 So. 2d 639, (Fla. 3 DCA 19821, Nielson v. City of Sarasota 117 So. 2d 731. (Fla. 19601.

Further, a Motion for Rehearing, standing alone, as apposed to a Motion for Rehearing En Banc, which merely reargues the merits of the case axe inappropriate. Seslow v. Seslow 625 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Elliott v. Elliott, 648 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 4th DCA TRANSMITTED TO THE SESSION OF THE SESSION OF

The <u>en banc</u> jurisdiction of a district court must be based upon the criteria set forth is <u>Nielson and Finnev supra</u>. As stated in <u>Nielson</u> the conflict jurisdiction does not convey to an <u>en banc</u> panel the authority to whimsically select cases for review in order to satisfy some notion that the case would be of such importance as to justify the interest or attention of the full court. To do so would convert the full court into a <u>"court of selected errors"</u> and will result in confusion and uncertainty in the judicial system.

Petitioner suggests that the en banc decision of the Fifth District is nothing more than a "whimsical selection" of a panel decision for review in order to satisfy some notion that the case would be of such importance as to justify the interest or attention of the full court. Litigants often suffer adverse results under the best circumstances, that is how our system sometimes functions, however, an adverse result should not provide the opportunity to circumvent the traditional and long established procedures designed to provide uniformly and stability to the judicial system of our state.

As to the first point raised herein, other district courts have considered the condition of the substance alleged to have caused the slip and fall as bearing on the critical time span during which the dangerous condition had existed. Woods v. Winn Dixie Stores, Inc., 621 So. 2d 710 (Fla 3rd DCA 1993) (dirt, scuffing or tracts in unidentified substance); Ress V. X-Tra Super Food Centers, Inc., 616 So 2d 110 (Fla 4th DCA 1993). (looked like sauerkraut and it was gunky, dirty and wet and black); Newalk v. Florida Supermarkets, Inc., 610 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992) (oil spots on the floor appeared old); Winn Dixie Stores v. Williams, 264 So. 2d 862 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) (sticky, dusty and dirty substance); Washinston v. Pick -N- Pay Supermarkets, Inc., 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla 4th DCA 1984) (collard greens looked old and nasty); Marlow v. Food Fair Stores, Inc., 284 So 2d 490 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973) (black looking piece of rotten banana) to mention a few.

All the cases cited as well as the instant case rely upon circumstantial evidence regarding the critical time span during which the dangerous condition existed. The principles expounded by the en banc rehearing decision regarding circumstantial evidence can as easily be applied to each of the above cited cases as well as any other case involving a similar slip and fall. The principles announced in the en banc opinion can be "whimsically" applied to any such case to attain the same conclusion as reached by the en banc opinion.

Perhaps for that reason alone, this case is of such importance that this court may wish to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction so as to establish the parameters that will guide the district courts as well as future litigants under similar factual circumstances, thereby making property owners, such as Publix, responsible for such occurrences and not a circumstance whereby members of the public must "shop at their own risk" as the en banc panel decision has created and fosters.

Petitioners submit that the fifth district en **banc** rehearing decision in the instant case was rendered without appropriate authority and otherwise conflicts with the principles of law announced in the above styled cases, thereby granting this court discretionary jurisdiction to review the en **banc** rehearing decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities cited herein, this court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the en banc rehearing decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal