ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER 96,235

ELVIA SORIANO and ANGEL SORIANO,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs,

vs.

B & B CASH GROCERY STORES, INC., d/b/a U-SAVE SUPERMARKET

Respondent/Defendant.

DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX AUG 3 0 1999 CLERK, SUBBANE POURT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

MICHAEL V. HAMMOND, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 0896690 RICHARD S. WOMBLE, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 319538 Rissman, Weisberg, Barrett, Hurt, Donahue & McLain, P.A. 201 E. Pine St., 15th Floor Orlando, FL 32801 (407) 839-0120 Attorneys for Respondent, B & B CASH GROCERY STORES, INC., d/b/a U-SAVE SUPERMARKET

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arose out of a slip and fall accident that occurred at Respondent's (B & B or Respondent) store. Petitioner claimed that while shopping at the store she stepped on a piece of banana, which caused her to fall. Petitioner sued B & B alleging that it had either actual or constructive knowledge of the piece of banana on the floor. Petitioner, Angel Soriano, also alleged loss of consortium.

At trial, Petitioners abandoned their theory of actual notice. Petitioners presented evidence of only constructive notice by introducing evidence that the piece of banana was "brown with very little **yellow**."

At the conclusion of the Petitioners' case in chief, Respondent moved for a directed verdict because Petitioners had presented no evidence that Respondent had actual or constructive knowledge of the piece of banana on the floor in its store. The trial court granted Respondent's motion concluding that, based on the evidence offered by petitioners, a jury finding in petitioners' favor would have required the jury to impermissibly stack one inference on another when the Petitioners had not properly established the first inference to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences.

Petitioners appealed the final judgment. On appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal the Petitioners argued that the trial court erred in its decision regarding the impermissible stacking of inferences. In addition, for the first time,

Petitioners argued that the trial court's directed verdict was error because they believed they had stated a claim for "negligent operation." This claim was made based on testimony of a former B & B manager who had testified that the store's "sweep sheets" had not been filled out on the day of the incident but that this had no bearing on whether the floor had been properly inspected and swept that day. The Fourth District Court rejected both assertions made by Petitioners and filed its panel opinion affirming the trial court's directed verdict on May 5, 1999.

On May 18, 1999 Petitioners filed a Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Certification, and Motion for Rehearing En Banc. The Fourth District Court of Appeal denied the joint motions on July 6, 1999. On July 23, 1999 the Fourth District Court issued its Mandate to the trial court because the Petitioners failed to move for a stay of the mandate. On July 29, 1999 the Petitioners filed their Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court's decision to affirm the trial court's directed verdict was correct. The Fourth District Court's opinion below does not conflict with any precedent of this court or any precedent of any other district court of appeal. Accordingly, this court has no jurisdiction to consider this matter.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER BECAUSE THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH ANY OPINION OF THIS COURT OR ANY OPINION OF ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ON THE ISSUE OF IMPERMISSIBLE STACKING OF INFERENCES SUFFICIENT TO GIVE THIS COURT CONFLICT JURISDICTION UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION (3)(B) 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal's opinion below does not conflict with any opinion of this court or any other district court of appeal. At trial, Petitioners tried to establish that Respondent had constructive notice of the banana on which Petitioner slipped by impermissibly stacking one inference on another without conclusively establishing the underlying inference to the exclusion of all others.

Specifically, Petitioner offered evidence that the banana was "brown with very little yellow" when she slipped on it. Petitioners sought to use the banana's discoloration alone as evidence that the banana had been on the floor a sufficient amount of time for Respondent to have constructive notice of its presence. However, Petitioners offered no evidence concerning the color of the banana when it was dropped on the floor. They also failed to offer any "additional evidence" that the peeling was dirty, walked on, or tracked through as required by this court's precedents and precedents of other district court's of appeal.

Rather than conflicting with any precedent of this court, the opinion below distinguishes and explains the precedents of

this court and other district courts of appeal. For example, in <u>Montgomery v. Florida Jitney Jungle Stores, Inc.</u>, **281 SO**. 2d 302 (Fla. 1973) this court outlined five points of circumstantial evidence, in addition to the discoloration **of** the food item at issue, in order to conclude that the premises owner in that case had constructive notice.

This requirement of a finding of "additional evidence" was necessitated by this court's own prior precedent of <u>Food Fair</u> <u>Stores, Inc. v. Trusell</u>, 131 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1961), which was cited by and specifically relied on by the Fourth District Court's opinion. In <u>Trusell</u> this court stated

It is apparent that a jury could not reach a conclusion imposing liability of the petitioner without indulging in the <u>prohibited</u> mental gymnastics of constructing one inference upon another inference in a situation where, admittedly, the initial inference was not justified to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences.

Id. at 733. (emphasis added)

• • •

The Fourth District Court also considered precedents of other district courts to reach its conclusion. Specifically, in <u>Bates v. Winn-Dixie Supermarkets, Inc.</u>, 182 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966) the Second District Court considered a virtually identical factual situation. In <u>Bates</u>, a grocery store customer slipped and fell on a "dark," "overripe," "black," "old," and "nasty looking" banana peel. <u>Id</u>. at 310. In his negligence action against the grocery store, the customer argued that the color of the banana peel alone was evidence that the peel had

been on the floor long enough to impute to the grocery store constructive knowledge of the condition. <u>Id.</u>

It is critical to note that the plaintiff in <u>Bates</u> did not present any evidence that the banana peel was dirty, walked on, or tracked through. This may have qualified as the "additional evidence" required by <u>Montgomery</u> and <u>Trusell</u>, and which the appellate court did not find in this case.

The Second District Court rejected the customer's argument in <u>Bates</u> because it involved an impermissible stacking of inferences. Because the first inference, that the peeling was not already brown when it fell on the floor, could not be established to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences, the court held that the color of the banana peel alone could not be used to demonstrate that the premises owner had constructive knowledge of its presence.

The Second District Court affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in favor the premises owner because it was "not permitted to indulge in constructing one inference upon another." Id. at 310. The <u>Bates</u> court specifically relied on this court's precedents in <u>Montgomery</u> and <u>Trusell</u> to reach its conclusion. Specifically, that court stated

to infer from the color and condition of the peeling alone that it had been there a sufficient length of time to permit discovery, we would first have to infer that the banana peel was not already black and deteriorated when it reached defendants' floor. This is the type of "mental gymnastics" prohibited by the <u>Trusell</u> decision, since the latter inference, under the circumstances, is not to the exclusion of all other reasonable inferences.

Id. at 311. (citations omitted).

Because the facts of the case now before this court are virtually identical to the facts of <u>Bates</u>, and because the <u>Bates</u> court so carefully followed this courts Precedent in <u>Trusell</u>, the opinion of the court below could not be in conflict with any precedent of this court or any other district court of appeal. Simply because this court's opinion in <u>Montgomery</u> distinguishes and expands on the rule outlined in <u>Trusell</u> does not mean that either <u>Bates</u> or the opinion below conflict with any other opinions.

Furthermore, the petitioners attempts to demonstrate a conflict between the decision below and decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal are misplaced. In every one of those cases relied on by the petitioners the claimant had adduced some "additional evidence" as required by this court's precedents. In fact, the court below actually cited most of those cases as examples of cases in which this "additional evidence" had been adduced. Because of this, the opinion below does not conflict with these Third District Court opinions

In <u>Teate v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 524 So. 2d 1060 (Fla, 3d DCA 1988), the additional evidence was the water on the floor around the peas. The Plaintiff didn't testify only that there were thawed, previously frozen, peas on the floor. Rather, he testified that there was water around the thawing peas. If the peas had thawed somewhere other than the floor and then dropped to the floor there would be no water around them.

In <u>Camina v. Parliament Insurance Company</u>, 417 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), the additional evidence was the **dirt** in the **thawed ice cream.** In <u>Colon v. Outback Steakhouse of Florida</u>, 721 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the additional evidence was the **dirt in the mashed potato.** In <u>Zayre Corporation v. Bryant</u>, 528 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the additional evidence was the **"'black darkened' grocery cart tire tracks" running through the clear liquid** on the floor. In <u>Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., v.</u> <u>Guenther</u>, 395 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), the additional evidence was that the **liquid** on **the** floor **"appeared dirty and had scuff marks and several grocery cart tracks" running through it.**

II. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER BECAUSE THE OPINION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH ANY OPINION OF THIS COURT OR ANY OPINION OF ANY OTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CONCERNING THE THEORY OF "NEGLIGENT OPERATION" SUFFICIENT TO GIVE THIS COURT CONFLICT JURISDICTION UNDER ARTICLE V, SECTION (3)(B) 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioners' attempt to demonstrate a conflict between Third District Court opinions and the decision below based on the theory of "negligent operation" simply mis-states and misapplies the rules outlined in those cases. Petitioners' brief asserts that <u>Publix Super Market v. Sanchez</u>, 700 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) "applied this theory of liability." In fact, the <u>Sanchez</u> court did nothing more than acknowledge that one other published opinion in Florida mentions the theory. The <u>Sanchez</u> court then determined that it did not apply in that case.

Specifically, the <u>Sanchez</u> court simply referenced the First District case of <u>Schaap v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc.</u>, 579 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). In that case, which had no precedential majority opinion that could result in a conflict,' the judge that authored the opinion, in which a single other judge concurred in result only, noted a personal opinion. That opinion was that a plaintiff can sometimes state a claim of negligence in a slip-and-fall case, in the absence of actual or constructive notice, if they can prove that (1) either the method of operation is inherently dangerous, or the particular operation was conducted in a negligent manner; and (2) the condition on the floor was created as a result of the negligent method of operation.

After observing this, the <u>Sanchez</u> court specifically declined to accept the plaintiff's theory that the cake give away demonstration table in that case was operated in a negligent manner. It did not "apply" the theory at all. Rather it rejected the theory. Accordingly, neither <u>Schaap</u> nor <u>Sanchez</u> create any conflict with the decision below.

As stated by the <u>Sanchez</u> court, the plaintiff in that case wanted to argue that because the store had not followed its policy of keeping the floor clean, it should be liable. The <u>Sanchez</u> court rejected this notion. Specifically it stated

¹ <u>See Rowe v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc.</u>, 714 So. 2d 1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) Persuasively, this opinion concerning the precedential value of <u>Schaap</u> is offered by another panel of the same district court of appeal.

If we were to accept the plaintiff's argument, we would be holding that grocery stores are liable whenever a customer slips and falls on any substance on the floor, regardless of notice, since grocery stores normally have either store or corporate policies which do not allow foreign substances to be on the floors. Moreover, the plaintiff's argument would also require us to ignore case law which requires either actual or constructive notice in slip-and-fall cases involving transitory, foreign substances.

Id. at 407

It is clear from this quotation that the Petitioners' claim that Respondents' act of not always filling out "sweep sheets" on the day "sweeps" were conducted does not constitute a valid claim under the theory of "negligent operation." The other cases cited by the Petitioners are equally unpersuasive. they simply decline to apply the theory or question whether it ever existed in the first place.

CONCLUSION

This court should decline **to** accept jurisdiction in this case because the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal below does not conflict with any precedent of this court or any other district court of appeal. The court below properly concluded that the directed verdict by the trial court was proper and affirmed the trial court judgment. The Fourth District Court of Appeal specifically relied on established precedents of this court to reach its conclusion. Accordingly, there could be no conflict.